City of Edmonds



Contracting and Purchasing

Policies and Procedures

May 2022

Table of Contents

	<u>Page</u>
Policy	3
Purpose	3
Authority	3
Parameters	3
Procurement of Products	3
Procurement and Surplus of Vehicles and Equipment	4
Procurement of Professional Services	4
A. Professional, Technical, and Other Services	
Grant Agreements and Grant Reimbursement Documents	5
Procurement of Public Works	6
Bidding Requirements	
Bid Procedures	
Apprentice Requirements	8
Responsible Bidder Criteria	
Small Works Roster	12
Change Orders on Public Works Construction Contracts	13
Final Acceptance of Public Works Projects:	14
Job Order Contracting	14
Reimbursement of Expenses	14
Other Issues	14
Interlocal Agreements	14
Sole Source Procurement	15
Special Market Conditions	15
Emergencies	15
Record Retention Requirements	15
State Minimum Bidding Requirements	15
Conflicts of Interest	16
Forms and Templates	16
Recyclables	16
Surplus Items	16
Store-Issued Charge Cards	16
Purchase Cards	16
Quick Checks	
Early Release	
Petty Cash	
Budget Adjustments	
Exclusive Contract Agreements	
Expenditures of Direct or Indirect Federal Financial Assistance	17
Safeguard Personally Identifiable Information	
Finance Committee	
CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE FORM	18

Policy

The City of Edmonds will acquire goods and services in a manner that results in the most efficient deliveryof the same considering cost and value received.

To avoid conflict of interest, procurement will be impartial. Procurement of goods and services will provide the City with the best quality for the best value and will be for the benefit of the public. Employees are prohibited from making purchases for personal use and charging any City vendor account. Purchases willbe made within budget limits and to meet goals and objectives approved in the City's budget. Potential purchases that are not within budget limits will be pre-approved through a budget amendment process. All City purchases will ultimately be approved by the City Council through the voucher approval process.

Purpose

This administrative manual establishes City responsibilities and policies, procedures, and practices to follow to purchase equipment, materials, and services. All employees must follow established policies and procedures. The City's purchasing policies and procedures, however, are intended solely for the benefit ofthe City. Nothing therein shall be interpreted to create any specially benefited or protected class of persons, or any private cause of action against the City. Adherence to policies and procedures will ensure that publicpurchases and contracts are open, fair, and at the least cost to the public. Policies and procedures are divided into six major areas: 1) Procurement of Products, 2) Procurement of Professional Services, 3) Procurement of Public Works, 4) Bidding Requirements, 5) Reimbursement of Expenses, and 6) Other Issues.

Authority

A department director (or designee), acting within his/her department budget, is authorized to provide for supplies and services purchases. To ensure the City's fiscal responsibility, purchases are coordinated through the Finance Department. The City's procurement procedures are based on Revised Code of Washington minimum standards, Edmonds City Council adopted resolutions and ordinances, rules and guidelines from the State Auditor's Office, and recommendations from Municipal Research Services Center.

Parameters

Dollar-value ranges indicated pertain to each purchase (including tax, freight, handling and set up costs, ifapplicable). Purchases cannot be broken into multiple purchases to avoid compliance with State statutes and City policies.

Procurement of goods or services specifically identified and approved by Council during the budget process are excluded from pre-approval requirements.

Any contract that extends beyond the approved budget cycle or which has continuing provisions (indemnities) which impose obligations beyond the budget cycle must go to Council for authorization; provided that the Mayor (or designees) shall be authorized to execute contracts with indemnity provisions that survive expiration or termination of the contracts if the following conditions are met: (1) City Attorney determines that the indemnity provision is in a standard form that assigns risks in a manner consistent withthe costs and purposes of the contract; and (2) the dollar value of the contract is less than \$100.000.

Procurement of Products

Purchasing decisions costing \$50,000 or less must be approved by the department director (or designee). Purchases costing between \$20,000 and \$35,000 require at least three telephone quotes from vendors (unless the items are from a sole source vendor), and completion of the vendor quote form.

Purchasing decisions costing more than \$35,000 but less than \$50,000 must be approved

by the department director (or designees). Purchases require written quotations from, if possible, at least three vendors (unless the items are from a sole source vendor or if only two possible vendors can be found).

Purchasing decisions costing more than \$50,000 but less than \$100,000 must be approved by the department director and the Mayor (or their designees). Purchases require written quotations from, if possible, at least three vendors (unless the items are from a sole source vendor or if only two possible vendors can be found).

Purchases in excess of \$100,000 must be bid competitively (unless the items are from a sole source vendor). See Bidding Requirements below. The City Council must authorize the call for bids for a purchase estimated at \$100,000 or more, as well as award the contract.

When soliciting quotes, the City will not inform a vendor of other vendors' quotes. All quotes/bids must be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder.

Procurement and Surplus of Vehicles and Equipment

The Mayor (or designee) is authorized to approve the purchase of new vehicles and equipment with a value of less than \$250,000, provided funds specific to the equipment or vehicle have been budgeted by the City Council.

The Mayor (or designee) is authorized to surplus vehicles and equipment designated for replacement or disposal in accordance with state law, without reference to the provisions of Chapter 3.01 ECC.

Procurement of Professional Services

A. Professional, Technical, and Other Services

- 1. Professional, Technical and Other services include disciplines not specifically related to A/E such as attorneys, computer programmers, financial analysts, bond counsels, artists, planners, real estate appraisers, landscapers, etc.
- 2. Purchase of professional services requires completion of a City professional service contract that describes services to be performed and purchase price.
- 3. The department director (or designee) must approve purchases of professional services costing \$50,000 or less, and provided funds have been budgeted is authorized to sign the contract.
- 4. The department director and the Mayor (or their designees) must approve purchases of professional services costing more than \$50,000 but less than \$100,000. The Mayor is authorized to sign the contract provided funds have been budgeted.
- 5. Professional services with an estimated consultant fee of \$100,000 or greater, require a focused public solicitation to ensure the consultant has the necessary expertise. If the work is not part of a project listed in the most current City Council Approved budget or CIP, a summary of the public solicitation must be put on the City Council agenda for approval prior to advertisement. The City Council must approve Professional Service contracts costing more than \$100,000, and authorize the Mayor to sign the contract.
- 6. Expertise, experience, including prior experience with the City, timeframe for completing projects, and the value of a negotiated agreement will be considered when choosing a consultant/firm to perform professional services.

B. Architectural, Engineering and Land Surveyor Services (A/E)

1. Procurement of A/E services will be in accordance with Chapter 39.80 RCW, unless the guidelines in 2 CFR 200 apply and are more restrictive, in which case the more restrictive requirements must be met. The statute requires advance notice of the need for professional services (RCW 39.80.030), evaluation of firms' qualifications and performance (RCW 39.80.040), and negotiation with firms in accordance with adjudged

- qualifications (RCW 39.80.050). A/E purchases will be coordinated through the Public Works Department to ensure compliance with State statutes.
- The department director (or designee) are designated authority to approve advertising Requests for Qualifications (RFQ's) for A/E services when the estimated consultant contract fee is \$50,000 or less and to approve proceeding with procurement of A/E services using the A/E Consultant Roster, provided funds have been budgeted by Council.
- 3. The department director and the Mayor (or their designees) must approve consultant contracts when the estimated consultant contract fee is greater than \$50,000, but less than \$100,000, provided funds have been budgeted. The Mayor is authorized to sign the contract.
- 4. Per Resolution 1155 the City utilizes the A/E consultant roster maintained by Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC).
- Selection of an A/E consultant from the consultant roster may be made if the estimated consultant fee is \$100,000 or less. If Federal funds are used to pay for all or a portion of the cost, the City must perform formal bidding at the federal threshold of \$100,00 under Pre-UG or \$150,000 under UG.
- 6. All projects with an estimated A/E consultant fee of \$100,000 or greater, and projects that are sufficiently complex/unique will require a focused public solicitation advertised as a Request for Qualification (RFQ's) to ensure the A/E consultant has the necessary expertise. If the project is not listed in the City's current City Council Approved budget or CIP, a summary of the RFQ and project details must be put on the City Council agenda for approval prior to advertising the RFQ. The City Council must approve A/E Professional Service contracts costing more than \$100,000, and authorize the Mayor to sign the contract.
- 7. A selection panel, with a minimum of three employees, shall be used to select an A/E consultant when the estimated consultant fee exceeds \$100,000. A selection panel is optional when the A/E consultant fee is estimated to be less than \$100,000.
- 8. Purchase of A/E services require completion of a City professional service contract that describes services to be performed and purchase price.

Grant Agreements and Grant Reimbursement Documents

The Mayor shall be authorized to execute grant agreements for capital projects where the City Council previously authorized the project in the current Capital Improvement Program and, for growth-related projects, where the scope of the project is substantially consistent with the project description in the CapitalFacilities Plan.

Once a grant agreement has been properly executed as provided above, the director of the department overseeing the capital project may execute documents necessary to implement the grant agreement, including documents necessary for the city to be reimbursed by the granting agency.

The Federal Highway Administration, through the State, sometimes authorizes Federal transportation funding to the City of Edmonds for transportation projects. The Code of Federal Regulations, 2 CFR 200.415(a) has been revised to ensure that final fiscal reports or vouchers requesting payment under Federal agreements must include the following certification, which, under the this policy, may be signed bythe Mayor, Director, or City Engineer, who are hereby authorized to legally bind the City for the sole purpose of requesting reimbursement for Federally funded transportation project to terms that are consistent with the applicable grant agreement.

"By signing this report, I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the report is true, complete and accurate, and the expenditures, disbursements and cash receipts are for the purposes and objectivesset forth in the terms and conditions of the Federal award. I am aware that any false,

fictitious, or fraudulent information, or the omission of any material fact, may subject me to criminal, civil or administrative penalties for fraud, false statements, false claims or otherwise. (U.S. Code Title 18, Section1001 and Title 31, Sections 3729-3730 and 3801-3812)."

Procurement of Public Works

RCW 39.04.010 defines public works to include all work, construction, alteration, repair or improvement <u>other than ordinary maintenance</u>, executed at the cost of the City. (Most public works projects are *multiplecraft*, defined as more than one type of work being executed.)

- 1. City employees may be used to perform public works projects until the accumulated costs of public works projects performed by them during a budget cycle meets ten percent of the City's public works construction budget; PROVIDED that, for any public works project costing more than sixty-five thousand dollars, if multiple crafts or trades are involved, or forty thousand dollars, if only a single craft or trade is involved, must be bid competitively. See Bidding Requirements below.
- 2. Starting in January 1, 2010, the bid limits above will be sixty five thousand dollars and forty thousanddollars, respectively.
- 3. Once the accumulated cost of public works project performed by City employees during a budget cycle meets or exceeds ten percent of the City's public works construction budget, all other public works projects must be bid competitively, regardless of estimated costs. See Bidding Requirement below.
- 4. Public works projects are governed by prevailing wage requirements, regardless of contract amount.
- 5. Except as noted below for Small Works Roster or limited public works, a bid bond of five percent will be required on all public works bids, and a performance bond (or retainage for public works contracts of thirty five thousand dollars or less) will also be required pursuant to Chapter 39.08 RCW on public works contracts.

Bidding Requirements

The competitive bid process is generally (although not exclusively) used for public works projects.

Dollar-value ranges indicated pertain to each purchase (including tax, freight, handling and set up costs, ifapplicable). Purchases cannot be broken into multiple purchases to avoid compliance with State statutesor City policies and procedures. Negotiations on bids are not permitted.

Bid Procedures

1. Authorization for Bids

Authorization to call for bids will be approved by the department director (or designee) for public worksprojects estimated at less than \$50,000; and by the department director and the Mayor (or their designees) for a public works project costing more than \$50,000. If the project is not included in the current City Council Approved budget or CIP, the City Council must authorize the call for bids for a project estimated at \$100,000 or more.

2. Publication of Notice

After proper authorization, the requesting department director (or designee) will publish the advertisement for Bids reasonably in advance of the bid submittal deadline in the official newspaper or a newspaper of general circulation most likely to bring responsive bids.

3. Notice Contents

Notice (or advertisement) for bids should contain definite specifications and procedures for bidders touse to estimate their bids. A bid notice for public work should include:

- project title,
- nature and scope of work or goods sought,
- where contract documents (plans and specifications) can be reviewed or obtained,

- cost, if any, to obtain a set of contract documents,
- place, date, and time that bids are due,
- place, date, and time that bids will be opened (if different from above),
- materials and equipment to be furnished by the City, if any,
- statement that a bid bond must accompany the bid for public works projects, and a
- statement that the City retains the right to reject any and all bids and to waive minor irregularities in the bidding process.

In addition, the City may provide evaluation criteria; minimum qualification expectations; date, time, and location of pre-bid conference (if applicable); and name, address, and telephone number of the project contact to assist bidders in preparing responsive submittals.

4. Bid Opening

Bids are submitted to the City Clerk's Office, where they are time and date stamped and processed. No bids will be opened prior to the predetermined date and time.

5. Report on Bids

The requesting department director will report on all bids received with a recommendation on the lowest responsible bidder, if any, or to reject all bids.

6. Bid Award

Unless all bids are rejected, a winning bid must be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder by the department director (or designee) for a public works project costing less than \$50,000; and by the department director and the Mayor (or their designees) for a public works project costing more than \$50,000 but less than \$100,000. The City Council must award bids which exceed \$100,000. The City may choose to reject all bids for any reason.

The following shall apply to bid solicitations:

- Selection of a winning offer is based primarily on low bid, after factoring whenever possible such costs as maintenance and operations over the expected period of use. Consideration, however, may also be given for the following:
- Ability, capacity, expertise and skill of the bidder to perform the contract.
- Character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency of bidder.
- Ability to perform within time specified.
- Quality of performance of previous contract(s).
- Other information having a bearing on the decision to award the contract.
- Minimum qualifications must be provided to ensure respondents are reasonably qualified.
 Minimum qualification requirement should be compared against the marketplace to ensure they are not overly restrictive.
- To ensure consistency and fair process, the City will use standard forms, documents, contracts, and terms and conditions, when practical. The Public Works & Finance Departments will maintaintemplates for bid-related documents for use by departments. The City may use an evaluation selection committee to promote an open and proper selection. The requesting department director will appoint committee members to act in an advisory capacity.
- When practical, the City will conduct a pre-bid conference to allow a thorough discussion of the City's expectations, intent, scope, specifications, and terms. Interested companies should be encouraged to attend.

- Every bidder for a public works contract that is expected to cost one million dollars or more
 must submit as part of the bid, or within one hour after the published bid submittal time, the
 names of thesubcontractors with whom the bidder, if awarded the contract, will subcontract
 for performance of the work of: HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air conditioning); plumbing
 as described in chapter
 - 18.106 RCW; and electrical as described in chapter 19.28 RCW, or to name itself for the work. The bidder shall not list more than one subcontractor for each category of work identified, unless subcontractors vary with bid alternates, in which case the prime contract bidder must indicate which subcontractor will be used for which alternate. Failure of bidder to submit as part of the bid the names of such subcontractors or to name itself to perform such work or the naming of two or more subcontractors to perform the same work shall render the bid nonresponsive and, therefore, void.
- If no responsive bid is received on the first call the City may re-advertise and make a second call, or without any further call, it may enter into a negotiated contract, purchase the supplies, material or equipment or perform the work or improvement using its own employees.

Apprentice Requirements

A. Definitions.

- 1. "Apprentice" means an apprentice enrolled in a state-approved apprenticeship training program.
- 2. "Contractor" means a person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or joint venture entering into a contract with the City to construct a public work.
- 3. "Labor hours" refers to the total number of hours worked by workers receiving an hourly wage who are directly employed on the site of the public work and who are subject to stateor federal prevailing wage requirements. "Labor hours" shall also include hours worked by workers employed by subcontractors on the site of the public work, and shall include additional hours worked as a result of a contract or project adjustment or pursuant to an agreed-upon change order.
- 4. "Estimated cost" means the anticipated cost of a public work, as determined by the City, based upon the expected costs of materials, supplies, equipment, and labor, but excluding taxes and contingency funds.
- 5. "Public work" refers to all City funded construction projects that constitute a public work pursuant to RCW 39.04.010 as now or hereafter amended and estimated to cost \$1,000,000 or more.
- 6. "State-approved apprenticeship training program" means an apprenticeship program approved or recognized by the Washington State Apprenticeship and Training Council.
- 7. "Subcontractor" means a person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or joint venture that has contracted with the contractor to perform all or part of the work to construct a public work by a contractor.

B. Apprentice utilization

Apprentices shall be utilized for the construction of public works by contractors and subcontractors in accordance with this section.

- 1. Apprenticeship utilization program goal. For public works contracts with an estimated cost of One Million Dollars \$1,000,000) or more, the Director of Public Works, or his designee, is authorized to require that up to fifteen percent (15%) of the contract labor hours, including contractor and subcontractor hours, be performed by apprentices.
- 2. Contract requirements. Contract documents for such public works construction projects shall include provisions detailing the apprentice labor requirements.
- 3. Monitoring. The City will include an Apprenticeship Utilization Form for contractors to complete when submitting their bid documents, which identifies the intended usage of apprentices by the contractor and any subcontractors. This document will require the

identification of individual apprentices by name and Washington State apprenticeship registration number, an estimate of the total apprentice labor hours, and the identification of apprentice hours to be worked by minorities, women, persons with disabilities and disadvantaged youth. This provision is not intended and shall not be used to discriminate against any applicant for training. In addition, the City will require the submittal of an Apprenticeship Verification Form by the contractor at the conclusion of the public works project that will identify the actual work performed by apprentices for the contractor and subcontractors.

- 4. Failure to meet utilization goal. Failure by a contractor to comply with established apprenticeship requirements, unless otherwise adjusted or waived in writing as set forth below, shall be deemed a breach of contract for which the City shall be entitled to all remedies allowed by law under the contract. Failure to comply with the apprenticeship requirements may also be considered evidence bearing on a contractor's qualification for award of future contracts with the City.
- 5. Adjustment and waiver. The Director of Public Works, or his designee, may adjust or waive the requirements of this section for a specific project at any time for the following reasons:
 - (a) The demonstrated lack of availability of apprentices in specific geographic areas;
 - (b) A disproportionately high ratio of material costs to labor hours, which does not make feasible the required minimum levels of apprentice participation;
 - (c) The reasonable and necessary requirements of the contract render apprentice utilization infeasible at the required levels;
 - (d) In order to meet the requirement, the contractor will be forced to displace members of its workforce;
 - (e) The participating contractor has demonstrated a good faith effort to comply with the requirements of this section; and/or

Other criteria deemed appropriate that are not inconsistent with the purpose and goals of this section.

Responsible Bidder Criteria

A. Mandatory responsible bidder criteria.

- 1. The bidder responsibility criteria set forth in this section shall be used by the Public Works Department to establish the minimum requirements for all contractors and subcontractors bidding on City contracts for public work (as those terms are defined in RCW 39.04.010). The bid documents shall set forth the documentation to be submitted by bidders to demonstrate their compliance with the mandatory responsible bidder criteria.
- 2. To be considered a responsible bidder and qualified to be awarded a City contract for public work, the bidder must:
 - (a) At the time of bid submittal, have a certificate of registration in compliance with chapter 18.27 RCW (contractor registration);
 - (b) Have a current state unified business identifier (UBI) number;
 - (c) If applicable, have:
 - (i) industrial insurance coverage for the bidder's employees working in Washington as required in Title 51 RCW;
 - (ii) a state employment security department number as required in Title 50 RCW; and

- (iii) a state excise tax registration number as required in Title 82RCW;
- (d) Not be disqualified from bidding on any public works contract under RCW 39.06.010 or RCW 39.12.065(3); and
- (e) Until December 31, 2013, not have violated RCW 39.04.370 more thanone time as determined by the State Department of Labor and Industries.
- 3. A bidder must verify mandatory responsibility criteria for each first tier subcontractor, and a subcontractor of any tier that hires other subcontractors must verify mandatory responsibility criteria for each of its subcontractors. Verification shall include that each subcontractor, at the time of subcontract execution, meets the responsibility criteria listed in RCW 39.04.350(1) and ECC 18.00.060 and possesses an electrical contractor license, if required by chapter 19.28 RCW, or an elevator contractor license, if required by chapter

70.87 RCW. This verification requirement, as well as the mandatory responsibility criteria, must be included in every public works contract and subcontract of every tier.

B. Supplemental responsible bidder criteria.

- 1. In addition to the mandatory bidder responsibility criteria set forth in ECC 18.00.060 (A), the Public Works Department may adopt in connection with a particular project relevant supplemental bidder responsibility criteria which the bidder must meet. Those supplemental criteria, including the basis for evaluation and the deadlines for requesting modification of the supplemental bidder responsibility criteria and for appealing a determination that a low bidder is not responsible under the supplemental bidder responsibility criteria, shall be provided in the invitation to bid or bidding documents.
- 2. As relevant to a particular project, supplemental bidder responsibility criteria may be included to require that:
 - (a) The bidder shall not owe delinquent taxes to the Washington State Department of Revenue without a payment plan approved by the Department of Revenue;
 - (b) The bidder shall not currently be debarred or suspended by the federal government;
 - (c) The bidder shall have complied with minority and women's business enterprises, disadvantaged business enterprises, or other similar utilization requirements or goals on federally-funded public works projects with such requirements completed by the bidder within three years of the bid submittal date, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City;
 - (d) The bidder shall not be listed as an ineligible contractor on the federal GSA Excluded Parties List System set forth by 31 U.S.C § 6101 and Executive Order 13496:
 - (e) If bidding on a public works project subject to the apprenticeship utilization requirements in ECC 18.00.050, the bidder:
 - (i) shall not have been found out of compliance with apprenticeship requirements of ECC 18.00.050 unless otherwise excepted or waived in writing by the Mayor or the Mayor's designee pursuant to that section for a one-year period immediately preceding the date of the bid submittal deadline; and
 - (ii) shall have complied with apprenticeship utilization goals on public works projects having such requirements that were completed by the bidder within a three-year period immediately preceding the date of the bid submittal deadline, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City;

- (f) The bidder shall not have been convicted of a crime involving bidding on a public works contract within five years from the bid submittal deadline;
- (g) The bidder's standard subcontract form shall include the subcontractor responsibility language required by RCW 39.06.020, and the bidder shall havean established procedure which it utilizes to validate the responsibility of each of its subcontractors. The bidder's subcontract form shall also include a requirement that each of its subcontractors shall have and document a similar procedure to determine whether the sub-tier subcontractors with which it contracts are also "responsible" subcontractors as defined by RCW 39.06.020;
- (h) The bidder shall not have a record of excessive claims filed against the retainage or payment bonds for public works projects during the previous three years that demonstrate a lack of effective management by the bidder of making timely and appropriate payments to its subcontractors, suppliers, and workers, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City;
- (i) The bidder shall have successfully completed projects of a similar size and scope as required by the contract documents for the project. In evaluating whether projects were successfully completed, the City may check owner references for previous projects and evaluate the owner's assessment of bidder performance, including but not limited to quality control, safety record, timeliness of performance, use of skilled personnel, management of subcontractors, availability of and use of appropriate equipment, compliance with contract documents, and management of submittals process, change orders and close-out;
- (j) The bidder shall not have had any public works contract terminated for causeby a government agency during the five year period immediately preceding the bid submittal deadline for the project, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City;
- (k) The bidder shall not have judgments entered by a court of law against the bidder within five years of the bid submittal date that demonstrate a pattern of failing to meet the terms of contracts, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City; and
- (I) The bidder shall not have a documented pattern of prevailing wage complaints filed against it within five years of the bid submittal date that demonstrates a failure to pay workers prevailing wages, unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to the City.
- 3. Supplemental bidder responsibility criteria may include any other criteria determined by the City to be relevant to the particular project being bid, including but not limited to the ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to perform, the experience and efficiency of the bidder, the financial situation of the bidder, and the performance of the bidder on previous contracts or services.
- 4. In a timely manner before the bid submittal deadline, a potential bidder may request that the City modify the supplemental bidder responsibility criteria. The City must evaluate the information submitted by the potential bidder and respond before the bid submittal deadline. If the evaluation results in a change of the criteria, the City must publish an addendum to the bidding documents identifying the modified criteria.
- 5. If the bidder fails to supply information requested concerning responsibility within the time and manner specified in the bid documents, the City may base its determination of responsibility upon any available information related to the supplemental criteria or may find the bidder not responsible.
- 6. If the City determines a bidder to be not responsible, the City must provide, in writing, the reasons for the determination. The bidder may appeal the determination within the time period specified in the bidding documents by presenting additional information to the City. The City must consider the additional information before issuing its final determination. If the final

determination affirms that the bidder is not responsible, the City may not execute a contract with any other bidder until two business days after the bidder determined to be not responsible has received the final determination.

7. The invitation to bid or bidding documents shall specify the times, manner and means of communications, deadlines and determinations required by this section.

Small Works Roster

The City of Edmonds has entered into an agreement with Municipal Research and Services Center, whereas they will maintain the Small Works Roster.

Resolution 1155, passed November 5, 2007 established a small works roster process to award public works contracts, and is incorporated below. The Mayor (or designee) is authorized to proceed with procurementfrom the Rosters, provided funds have been budgeted by Council.

Use of the Small Works Roster allows the City to preclude the advertisement requirements and sealed bidding procedures of the formal competitive process. All other bidding procedures and requirements not in conflict remain the same.

The following small works roster procedures are established for use by the City pursuant to RCW 39.04.155:

- 1. Cost. The City need not comply with formal sealed bidding procedures for the construction, building, renovation, remodeling, alteration, repair, or improvement of real property where the estimated cost does not exceed Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000.00), which includes the costs of labor, material, equipment and sales and/or use taxes as applicable. Instead, the Citymay use the small works roster procedures for public works projects as set forth herein. The breaking of any project into units or accomplishing any projects by phases is prohibited if it is done for the purpose of avoiding the maximum dollar amount of a contract that may be let using the small works roster process.
- 2. **Publication.** At least once a year, on behalf of the City, MRSC shall publish in a newspaper of general circulation within the jurisdiction a notice of the existence of the roster or rosters and solicitthe names of contractors for such roster or rosters. Responsible contractors shall be added to appropriate MRSC roster or rosters at any time that they submit a written request and necessary records. The City may require master contracts to be signed that become effective when a specificaward is made using a small works roster.
- 3. **Telephone or Written Quotations.** The City shall obtain telephone, written or electronic quotations (in accordance with City of Edmonds Purchasing Policies and Procedures) for public works contracts from contractors on the appropriate small works roster to assure that a competitive price is established and to award contracts to a contractor who meets the mandatory bidder responsibility criteria in RCW 39.04.350(1) and any pre-establish supplementary bidder criteria under RCW 39.04.350(2).
 - a) A contract awarded from a small works roster need not be advertised. Invitations for quotations shall include an estimate of the scope and nature of the work to be performed as well as materials and equipment to be furnished. However, detailed plans and specifications need not be included in the invitation.
 - b) Quotations may be invited from all appropriate contractors on the appropriate small works roster. As an alternative, quotations may be invited from at least *five* contractors on the appropriate small works roster who have indicated the capability of performing the kind of work being contracted, in a manner that will equitably distribute the opportunity among the contractors on the appropriate roster. "Equitably distribute" means that the City may not favor certain contractors on the appropriate small works roster over other contractors on the appropriate small works roster who perform similar services.

If the estimated cost of the work is from one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000) to three hundred thousand dollars (\$300,000), and the City chooses to solicit bids from at least five, but less than all the appropriate contractors on the appropriate small works

roster, the City must notify the remaining contractors on the appropriate small works roster that quotations on the work are being sought. The City has the sole option of determining whether this notice to the remaining contractors is made by:

- (i) publishing notice in a legal newspaper in general circulation in the area where the workis to be done;
- (ii) mailing a notice to these contractors; or
- (iii) sending a notice to these contractors by facsimile or email.
- c) At the time bids are solicited, the City representative shall not inform a contractor of the terms or amount of any other contractor's bid for the same project;
- d) A written record shall be made by the City representative of each contractor's bid on the project and of any conditions imposed on the bid. Immediately after an award is made, the bid quotations obtained shall be recorded, open to public inspection, and available by telephone inquiry.
- 4. **Limited Public Works Process.** If a work, construction, alteration, repair, or improvement project is estimated to cost less than thirty-five thousand dollars (\$35,000), the City may award such a contract using the limited public works process provided under RCW 39.04.155(3). For a limited public works project, the City will solicit electronic or written quotations (note: no telephone quotations permitted) from a minimum of three contractors from the appropriate small works roster and shall award the contract to the lowest responsible bidder as defined under RCW 39.04.010. After an award is made, the quotations shall be open to public inspection and available by electronic request.

For limited public works projects, the City may waive the payment and performance bond requirements of chapter 39.08 RCW and the retainage requirements of chapter 60.28 RCW, thereby assuming the liability for the contractor's nonpayment of laborers, mechanics, subcontractors, materialmen, suppliers, and taxes imposed under Title 82 RCW that may be due from the contractor for the limited public works project. However, the City shall have the right of recovery against the contractor for any payments made on the contractor's behalf.

The City shall maintain a list of the contractors contacted and the contracts awarded during the previous 24 months under the limited public works process, including the name of the contractor, the contractor's registration number, the amount of the contract, a brief description of the type of work performed, and the date the contract was awarded.

- 5. **Determining Lowest Responsible Bidder.** The contract must be awarded to the contractor submitting the lowest responsible bid, or all bids must be rejected. If all bids are rejected, the City may call for new bids. A responsible bidder shall be a registered and/or licensed contractor who meets the mandatory bidder responsibility criteria established by RCW 39.04.350 and any supplementary criteria pre-established by the City.
- 6. **Award.** For contracts of \$100,000 or more, the Mayor or his designee shall present all quotations/bids and recommendation for award of the contract to the lowest responsible bidder to the City Council for approval. For public works project contracts of less than \$100,000, the Mayor or his designee shall have the authority to award public works contracts.
- 7. **Bond and Other Requirements.** Vendors/contractors selected off the Small Works Roster are not relieved from observing applicable legal requirements such as Bid Bond, Performance Bond,Retainage Requirements, Prevailing Wage, Labor and Material Bonding, etc. The City may waivebid bond for any solicitation using the Small Works Roster process, and/or performance bond for any contract awarded using the limited public works process.

Change Orders on Public Works Construction Contracts

Approval of change orders on Public Works Construction Contracts shall be in accordance with the following requirements:

- 1. City Council members shall be notified by e-mail of any change order in excess of \$50,000.
- 2. City Council approval shall be required for:
 - a) any change order in excess of \$100,000
 - b) any change order which puts the total of change orders on a project over the designated management reserve.
 - c) If City Council approval is required for a change order, but circumstances require a speedier approval, the Mayor is authorized to approve the required work provided that thechange order and a written statement of the special circumstances requiring speedier approval is placed on the next City Council agenda for review.

Final Acceptance of Public Works Projects:

The Mayor (or designee) is authorized to accept public works projects as complete, and to declare that Final Acceptance has been achieved, after the contractor has completed all tasks and furnished to the City all documentation required by the public works contract and by applicable law.

Job Order Contracting

A "job order contract" is a contract in which the contractor agrees to a fixed period, indefinite quantity delivery order contract, which provides for the use of negotiated, definitive work orders for public works. Pursuant to RCW 39.10.420, all public bodies of the state of Washington are authorized to award job order contracts and use the job order contracting procedure. The City Council has determined that the use of job order contracts will benefit the public by providing an effective means of reducing the total lead time and cost for the construction of public works projects for repair and renovation required at public facilities through the use of unit price books and work orders by eliminating time consuming, costly aspects of the traditional public works process, which requires separate contracting actions for each small project.

The maximum total dollar amount that may be awarded under a job order contract is Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000) per year for a maximum of three (3) years. Any unused capacity from the previous year may be carried over for one year and added to the immediately following year's limit. Job order contracts may be executed for an initial contract term of not to exceed two (2) years, with the option of extending or renewing the job order contract for one (1) year. The City may have no more than three (3) job order contracts in effect at any one time. The maximum dollar amount for each work order issued under a job order contract is Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000), excluding Washington state sales and use tax. All work orders issued for the same project will be treated as a single work order for purposes of the dollar limit on work orders.

The City will adhere to all requirements of Chapter 39.10 RCW with regard to its Job Order Contracting program.

Reimbursement of Expenses

Travel and Meeting Expenses

Travel or training requires the requesting department director's prior approval. Expenses incurred on authorized travel will be reimbursed as submitted on the required, itemized, Claim for Expenses form. Receipts must be submitted with the claim form for all expenses except meals.

To qualify for reimbursement, submitted expenses must be within 30 days of incurrence, reasonable and prudent under the circumstances, and directly relate to the conduct of City business or service. Reimbursement for personal expenses is prohibited. Travel mileage by private vehicle is reimbursed at the City's established rate, which is the current IRS rate.

Other Issues

Interlocal Agreements

Solicitation of bids/quotations is not required when purchases of materials, supplies, or equipment are made under State standard contracts or similar contracts executed by and through other local

governments. The City Council must approve an interlocal agreement with the local government or State agency after confirming that the other government or agency has complied or intends to comply with its own statutory requirements and either (i) posted the bid or solicitation notice on a web site established and maintained by a public agency, purchasing cooperative, or similar service provider, for purposes of posting public notice of bid or proposal solicitations, or (ii) provided an access link on the state's web portal to the notice.

Neither solicitation of bids/quotations nor interlocal agreement is required when purchasing materials, supplies, or equipment from or through the United States of America or any agency thereof (RCW 39.32.070).

All internal procurement approval requirements must be observed and the process must comply with statestatutory requirements.

Sole Source Procurement

If, after conducting a good faith review of available resources, the requesting department director determines that there is only one source of the required materials, supplies, equipment or service (including public works), a purchase may be awarded without complying with established bid requirements.

The requesting department will submit a written request for sole source procurement with negotiated contract price, terms, conditions and delivery for approval. The vendor must certify that the City is getting the lowest price offered as compared to similarly situated clients, terms and conditions. Department directors can approve Sole Source purchases up to \$50,000, the department director and the Mayor can approve sole source purchases costing more than \$50,000 but less than \$100,000. Council must approve sole source purchases costing more than \$100,000. Immediately after the award of any sole source purchase, the factual basis for awarding the same must be recorded and open to public inspection.

Special Market Conditions

The City may waive established bidding requirements if an opportunity arises to purchase favorably-priced supplies, materials or equipment unrelated to public works projects that will be sold before the City can conduct the bid process. The City may waive established bidding requirements and acquire any supplies, materials, and equipment through an auction if the items can be purchased at a competitive price.

Waiver will be authorized by the Mayor (or designee). Immediately after the award of any special market conditions contract, the contract and the factual basis for awarding the same must be recorded and open to public inspection.

Emergencies

In case of unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the City that present a real and immediate threat to the City's ability to properly perform essential functions, or to City property or the safety of citizens and/or staff, the Mayor (or designee) can waive bid requirements to purchase supplies, materials, equipment or services to stabilize the emergency condition. Purchases must be properly documented as an emergencyas soon as possible following the event.

Within two weeks of confirming the emergency existed, the City Council will adopt a resolution certifyingthe emergency situation existed.

Record Retention Requirements

The City must maintain records sufficient to detail the history of procurement. These records will include, but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale for the method of procurement, selection of contracttype, contractor selection or rejection, and the basis for the contract price. All quote/bid documents must be retained as indicated in the State of Washington Retention Schedule and be available for public inspection.

State Minimum Bidding Requirements

On a case by case basis, the City Council may waive any requirement contained in the City's purchasing policies and procedures as long as the result complies with applicable state laws.

Conflicts of Interest

The City will not accept donations of materials or services in return for a commitment to continue or initiatea purchasing agreement. No employee will participate in a procurement when they are aware of a conflict of interest, or accept gifts or gratuities from existing or potential vendors in return for a commitment to continue or initiate a purchasing relationship. See also RCW 42.23.030 and Chapter 3.70 ECC.

The City maintains the following standards of conduct covering conflicts of interest and governing the performance of its employees engaged in the selection, award and administration of contracts. No employee or elected official of the City can participate in the selection, award, or administration of a contractsupported by a Federal award if he or she has a real or apparent conflict of interest. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee or elected official, any member of his or her immediate family, hisor her partner, or an organization which employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm considered for a contract. The employees and elected officials of the City must neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors or parties to subcontracts. However, in accordance with Section 10.14 of the City Personnel Policy, this requirement is waived if the benefit received is not substantial or is of nominal value. These standards of conduct provide for disciplinary actions to be applied for violations of such standards by employees or elected officials of the City.

Employees participating in the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by a Federal Award must complete and sign a Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form, below in Exhibit 1.

Forms and Templates

Purchasing forms and templates may be obtained from the public directory.

Recyclables

Every effort will be made to use products made from recycled materials if such products are available, ofacceptable quality, and generally priced the same as similar, non-recycled products (Resolution 766).

Surplus Items

The City may acquire property from another governmental entity on mutually agreeable terms withoutsoliciting bids/quotations.

Store-Issued Charge Cards

It is sometimes necessary to use store-issued charge cards. The Department Managers will request priorapproval from the Finance Director or designee before establishing account.

Purchase Cards

Purchase cards can be issued with the approval of the Finance Director. They are to be used solely for City-authorized business purposes. See Credit Card Policy.

Quick Checks

Quick checks may be issued to avoid incurring penalties, interest, or late charges. Submit requests for quickchecks to the Finance Department. Quick checks will be approved by the Finance Director or designee.

Departments should avoid requests for quick checks by informing vendors of invoice

deadlines andpayment schedules.

Early Release

Any checks requiring an early release must be approved by the Finance Director or designee. Departments should avoid requests for early release by informing vendors of invoice deadlines and payment schedules.

Petty Cash

Petty cash funds cover minor disbursements. Employees may be reimbursed from petty cash funds for authorized purchases that total less than the established, petty-cash limit.

Budget Adjustments

Department directors (or designees) must ensure that purchases are initiated only when departmental appropriations are sufficient to cover the anticipated cost. Expenditures that exceed departmental appropriations require the Mayor's approval via the Budget Adjustment Request Form.

Exclusive Contract Agreements

The City may enter into an exclusive contract with a vendor in order to ensure the lowest prices on goods and/or services unrelated to architecture, engineering, land survey or public works requiring competitive bidding. All departments must use exclusive vendor unless special circumstances such as emergencies, vendor does not carry exact product, etc.

Expenditures of Direct or Indirect Federal Financial Assistance

Prior to contracting for goods or services which will be paid for with either direct or indirect Federal financial assistance, where vendors have not signed a self certification, vendors must be checked against the Excluded Parties List System to assure they have not been suspended/debarred and are prohibited from receiving federal funds (http://www.epls.gov/). Documentation of verification must be retained and available for audit. See related Grant and Intergovernmental Loan Policy.

Safeguard Personally Identifiable Information

The City shall take reasonable measures to safeguard protected, personally identifiable information and other information the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity designates as sensitive or the non-Federal entity considers sensitive consistent with applicable Federal, state, local and tribal laws regardingprivacy and obligations of confidentiality.

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee, composed of two Council members and the Finance Director, will review andupdate the City of Edmonds' purchasing and accounts payable policies and procedures, as necessary.

EXHIBIT 1

City of Edmonds, WA CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE FORM FOR CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS, MAYOR, DIRECTORS, and STAFF

Date	Position
interest involving elected officials, directors, and em	ow issues of actual, potential and perceived conflicts of aployees of the City should be identified, disclosed and close known conflicts in an effort to properly manage them.
employee/Elected Official of the City of Edmon	Conflict of Interest policy and understand that as ar ds it is my obligation to act in a manner which promotes onflicts of interest when making decisions and taking
Should a possible conflict of interest arise in that I have the obligation to notify, based of (Director, Mayor, City Council member), and to City of Edmonds can determine whether a confrelevant changes occur in my affiliations, duti	correctly stated to the best of my knowledge and belief my responsibilities to the City of Edmonds, I recognize on my position, the appropriate designated individual abstain from any participation in the matter until the flict exists and how that conflict shall be resolved. If any es, or financial circumstances, I recognize that I have a flict of Interest Disclosure Form" with the appropriate
	external parties will be only when required by law.
considered confidential information. Release to	external parties will be only when required by law.
Signature Please complete the following questions and su City of Edmonds. 1. Are you or a member of your immediate fa employee or regularly retained consultant of any or any o	Date
Signature Please complete the following questions and su City of Edmonds. 1. Are you or a member of your immediate fa employee or regularly retained consultant of any dealings with the City of Edmonds or which might cityof Edmonds in the coming year? Yes No If yes, please list the name of the company, firm	Date Date
Signature Please complete the following questions and succity of Edmonds. 1. Are you or a member of your immediate far employee or regularly retained consultant of any dealings with the City of Edmonds or which might in Cityof Edmonds in the coming year? Yes No If yes, please list the name of the company, firm business which is currently being conducted with the conducted with the City of Edmonds in the coming year? 2. Do you or does any member of your immediate far employee or regularly retained consultant of any dealings with the City of Edmonds or which might in the company firm business which is currently being conducted with the conducted with the City of Edmonds in the coming year.	Date Date Ibmit this form to the Human Resources Director of the mily an officer, director, trustee, partner (general or limited), company, firm or organization that presently has business reasonably be expected to have business dealings with the city of Edmonds or which may reasonably be expected to be rear: Idiate family have a financial interest, direct or indirect, in a business dealings with the City of Edmonds or which may

EXHIBIT 1

person holding the interest, and the nature of the business which is currently being conducted with the City of Edmonds or which may reasonably be expected to be conducted with the City of Edmonds in the coming year:
 Do you or does any member of your immediate family have a financial or personal interest in an entity inwhich the City of Edmonds has a financial or other vested interest. No
If yes, please provide details below:
4. Have you or an immediate family member accepted gifts, gratuities, lodging, dining, or entertainment that might reasonably appear to influence your judgment or actions concerning the business of the City of Edmonds?
If yes, please provide details below:
5. Do you have any other interest or role in a firm or organization, where that interest or relationship might reasonably be expected to create an impression or suspicion among the public having knowledge of your acts thatyou engaged in conduct in violation of your trust as a trustee, officer, Director or staff member?
If yes, please provide details below:
Please add additional pages as needed.
If any material changes to the responses provided on this disclosure form occur, the trustee, officer or employee is required to update the information on this form in writing, and submit the update to the City of Edmonds HumanResources Director.
Form reviewed by:
Remedial Action(s) to be taken:
The City of Edmonds will follow-up on all recommended actions to ensure compliance.